SEP 08 2015

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 332411

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Kittitas County Superior Court Cause No.13-2-00074-4

KITTITAS COUNTY, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Washington

Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

SKY ALLPHIN, ABC HOLDINGS, INC., and CHEM-SAFE ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.

Defendants/Appellants

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

DAVIS, ARNEIL LAW FIRM, LLP Nicholas J. Lofing, WSBA No. 43938 617 Washington Street Wenatchee, WA 98801 (509) 662-3551 Attorneys for Appellants

###

A.	Assignments of Error			
	B.	Issues Pertaining to the Assignments of Error4			
III.	Statement of the Case				
	A.	Procedural Background5			
	B.	Factual Background			
		1.	The County used an "installment process" to serially postpone its release of public records12		
		2.	The County filed this PRA lawsuit to interfere with Mr. Allphin's defense in related proceedings		
		3.	The County's lawsuit prevented and delayed the DOE's release of records over which the DOE claimed no exemption		
VI.	Argument				
	A.	This Court reviews the trial court's conclusion on in camera review and summary judgment de novo16			
	В.	The trial court incorrectly sealed two envelopes of public records based on the County's erroneous theory that two unrelated government agencies create attorney work product when they email one another			

	1.	The contents of the envelope submitted by the				
		County to the Court for in camera review on				
		September 9, 2013, should be released as a				
		sanction for abusing judicial processes19				
	2.	The trial court wrongly sealed records that were				
		openly communicated between the two agencies,				
		here adverse parties, constituting a waiver of the				
		attorney work product protection22				
C.	The trial court erred when it granted the County's motion					
		mmary judgment and denied Mr. Allphin's motion				
	for su	mmary judgment28				
	1.	Mr. Allphin prevailed in obtaining the release of				
		several records initially withheld by the County				
		pursuant to the County's 3/27-28/13 and 4/2/13				
		exemption logs29				
	2.	The County intentionally and unlawfully delayed				
		its records response, unlawfully distinguished				
		Mr. Allphin's request, and failed to provide fullest				
		assistance34				
	3.	The recently developed "reasonable search"				
		caselaw has no application to Mr. Allphin's				
		counterclaims41				
	4.	The County wrongfully withheld the "Smoking				
		Gun Memorandum" due to its exculpatory nature				
		and only released it after Mr. Allphin demanded				
		its release following the County's filing of and reliance on the record in related federal				
		litigation47				
		Ç				
Concl	usion	49				
Reque	est for A	Attorney Fees under RAP 18.150				

V.

VI.

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### **CASES**

Adams v. Wash. State Dep't of Corrections No. 32012-0-III (Div. 3 Sept. 1, 2015)
Amren v. City of Kalama 131 Wash.2d 25, 929 P.2d 389 (1997)33
City of Lakewood v. Koenig 182 Wash.2d 87, 343 P.3d 335 (2014)27, 28
Coalition on Gov't Spying v. King County ("COGS") 59 Wash.App. 856, 801 P.2d 1009 (Div. 1 1991)30
Freedom Foundation v. Wash. State Dept. of Transp. 168 Wash.App. 278, 276 P.3d 341 (Div. 2 2012)
Haines-Marchel v. State, Dept. of Corrections 183 Wash.App. 655, 334 P.3d 99 (Div. 2 2014)44
Harris v. Drake 152 Wash.2d 480, 99 P.3d 872 (2004)2
Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe 90 Wash.2d 123, 530 P.2d 246 (1978)
Johnson v. Si-Cor Inc. 107 Wash.App. 902, 28 P.3d 832 (Div. 3 2001)48
King v. Clodfelter 10 Wash.App. 514, 518 P.2d 206 (Div. 1 1974)48
Limstrom v. Ladenburg 136 Wash.2d 595, 963 P.2d 869 (1998)24, 35
Limstrom v. Ladenburg 98 Wash.App. 612, 989 P.2d 1257 (Div. 2 1999)36

Limstrom v. Ladenburg 110 Wash.App. 133, 39 P.3d 351 (Div. 2 2002)25
Nissen v. Pierce Co. No. 90875-3 (Wash. Sup. August 27, 2015)17
Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Co. v. Co. of Spokane 172 Wash.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011)30, 41, 44, 45
Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Wash. ("PAWS") 125 Wash.2d 243, 884 P.2d 243 (1994)20, 42, 45
Resident Action Council v. Seattle Housing Authority 177 Wash.2d 417, 327 P.3d 600 (2013)42
Rushlight v. McLain 28 Wash.2d 189, 182 P.2d 62 (1947)48
Sanders v. State 169 Wash.2d 827, 240 P.3d 120 (2010)27, 28
Sitterson v. Evergreen School Dist. No. 114 147 Wash.App. 576, 196 P.3d 735 (Div. 2 2008)24
Soter v. Cowles Pub. Co. 162 Wash.2d 716, 174 P.3d 60 (2007)passim
Spokane Research & Defense Fund v. City of Spokane 155 Wash.2d 89, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005)30, 31, 32
Tacoma Pub. Library v. Woessner 90 Wash.App. 205, 951 P.2d 357 (Div. 2 1998)30
Wash. State Dept. of Trans. v. Mendoza de Sugiyama, 182 Wash.App. 588, ¶ 9, 330 P.3d 209 (Div. 2 2014)17
Yurtis v. Phipps 143 Wash.App. 680, 181 P.3d 849 (Div. 3 2008)22
Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims 168 Wash.2d 444, 229 P.3d 73536

Zink v. City of Mesa 162 Wash.App. 688, 256 P.3d 384 (Div. 3	2011)passim				
STATUTES AND RULES					
Evidence Rule 502	24				
RCW 2.28.010(3)	22				
RCW 42.56.030	16, 17				
RCW 42.56.080	35				
RCW 42.56.100	35				
RCW 42.56.210	27, 33				
RCW 42.56.520	35				
RCW 42.56.540	19				
RCW 42.56.550	passim				
WAC 44-14-04003(6)	40				
WAC 44-14-04004	40				
WAC 44-14-08004	35				

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The following appeal alleges multiple violations of the Public Records Act ("PRA") based on Kittitas County's obstruction, delay, and denial of access to requested public records because of related litigation between the County and the requester, Mr. Allphin. The County's violations are specifically tied to records it denied or delayed. Some of the records involve multiple violations of the PRA. Mr. Allphin requests this Court reverse the trial court's grant of summary judgment to the County, reverse and release the records in the two envelopes that were sealed by the trial court, and grant Mr. Allphin summary judgment. Mr. Allphin has bore years of delay and expense to review public records that should have been made available to him promptly.

First, the Kittitas County Superior Court improperly sealed two envelopes of public records submitted for *in camera* review. The trial court incorrectly concluded these public records constituted attorney work product and that the County and the Washington State Department of Ecology ("DOE") were on the same "legal team," despite the two separate agencies not having any joint prosecution agreement, the DOE's repeated disclaimer of work product protection over the records, and the County and the DOE being adverse parties in this lawsuit.

Second, the trial court erred when it concluded that the County did not violate the PRA after it denied access to 50 emails on April 2, 2013 and then slowly and methodically released the majority of these records over several installments and several months. The trial court incorrectly concluded that the County's delay did not violate the PRA's mandates that an agency not distinguish among persons requesting records, that an agency provide fullest assistance, and that an agency respond promptly to requests. Finally, the trial court incorrectly concluded that the County did not violate the PRA when the County falsely claimed not to possess several public records, including one key record referred to by the parties as the "smoking gun memorandum," and then used the record in its case against Mr. Allphin in a related federal lawsuit.

Even though the County's manner of proceeding created a relatively complex procedural history, the PRA and caselaw supporting Mr. Allphin's claims are well established. Rather than analyze Mr. Allphin's claims, however, the trial court signed the County's proposed orders wholesale, basing its conclusion on an entirely new theory that an agency can be excused from its violations of the PRA if its search for public records was "reasonable."

No Washington court has ever applied a blanket "reasonableness" defense to violations of the PRA, particularly where the requester's claims

are all tied specifically to records wrongfully denied. To perpetuate this blanket "reasonableness" defense would be a grafting of an entirely new standard on the PRA in conflict with the PRA's own terms and its policy of construction in favor of disclosure and open government.

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES PRESENTED

#### A. Assignments of Error

Assignment of Error No. 1. The trial court erred when it sealed two envelopes of public records submitted for *in camera* review and denied Mr. Allphin summary judgment as to those records. CP 964-974 (December 19, 2013 order) and CP 3059-3219 (sealed records); CP 2966-2973 (February 27, 2015 order) and CP 3220-3390 (sealed records).

Assignment of Error No. 2. The trial court erred when it granted summary judgment to the County and denied Mr. Allphin's cross motion for summary judgment based on its conclusions that the County "lawfully" withheld records pursuant to its exemption logs and that the County did not unlawfully deny Mr. Allphin access to many of those records that the County subsequently released. CP 2981-82, ¶¶ 1, 4, 9.

Assignment of Error No. 3. The trial court erred when it granted summary judgment to the County and denied Mr. Allphin's cross motion for summary judgment based on its conclusions that the County fulfilled its statutory duties to respond promptly and without delay, not to

distinguish among requests, to respond in good faith, and to provide the requester with "fullest assistance". CP 2981-82, ¶¶ 1, 5-7, 10-11.

Assignment of Error No. 4. The trial court erred when it granted summary judgment to the County based on the County's "reasonable search" defense, erred when it concluded that the material facts were uncontroverted as to the reasonableness of the County's search, and erred in denying Mr. Allphin's cross motion for summary judgment as to the wrongfully delayed, denied, and missing records. CP 2978-84, ¶ 2-3, 12.

Assignment of Error No. 5. The trial court erred when it granted summary judgment to the County and denied Mr. Allphin's cross motion for summary judgment based on its conclusion that the "smoking gun memorandum" was not a responsive County record that the County had a duty to provide to Mr. Allphin. CP 2981-84, ¶¶ 8, 12.

#### B. Issues Pertaining to the Assignments of Error

- 1) Did the trial court wrongly seal public records withheld by the County as attorney work product despite those records consisting of County emails unrestrictedly exchanged with staff at a state agency, when no joint prosecution agreement existed, when the emails contain no indicia of confidentiality, and when the County had to sue the DOE?
- 2) Did the County violate the PRA when it withheld records pursuant to exemption logs, sued Mr. Allphin for injunctive relief, and then

- released many of the initially withheld records as a result of adverse court rulings and based on Mr. Allphin's challenge?
- 3) Did the County violate its duty to provide a "prompt response," and other statutory obligations, when the County delayed its response to Mr. Allphin's request with serial installments, preemptively sued Mr. Allphin for no other reason than to interfere with related litigation, and refused to advance judicial proceedings after enjoining records?
- 4) Did the trial court incorrectly conclude that the County was absolved from liability for denying access to non-exempt public records, unreasonably delaying releases, and other statutory violations, based on the County's assertion that it conducted a "reasonable search"?
- 5) Did the County violate the PRA when it silently withheld the "smoking gun memorandum" for 646 days and only released it upon Mr. Allphin's demand after the County filed the record in sworn pleadings in a related federal lawsuit?

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural Background

Mr. Sky Allphin filed a request for public records with the County on October 17, 2012, requesting records related to his waste disposal business operations. CP 1462, 1480. Mr. Allphin operates two family businesses, Chem-Safe Environmental, Inc. and ABC Holdings, Inc.

(collectively, "Mr. Allphin"). The County shut down operations in 2011 for the alleged lack of an operating permit and an alleged spill. Mr. Allphin disputes the allegations, which are the subject of *ABC Holdings*, *Inc. v. Kittitas County*, 187 Wash.App. 2756 (Div. 3 2015) (review requested) and *Chem-Safe v. Kittitas County*, U.S. E.D. Wash. No. 1:14-cv-03021-SAB. Mr. Allphin's records request included email correspondence between the County and the DOE. CP 1462, 1480.

On February 22, 2013, about four months after his public records request, the County sued Mr. Allphin for filing the request for public records. CP 1-8. Mr. Allphin had complied with his duties as a records requester and had not made demands of the County other than it release the responsive records. See e.g. CP 1462-64, 1497. The County moved for a temporary restraining order (TRO) and would not grant a minor extension to Mr. Allphin's co-counsel, who was contacted and appeared the day before the hearing was set. CP 194-310. When Mr. Allphin and the family businesses filed affidavits of prejudice against the judges (who had been involved in the other litigation), the County's attorney arranged a telephonic hearing with a neighboring judge, without notice to Mr. Allphin, and obtained the TRO ex parte. CP 196-197, 307-308.

The TRO enjoined Mr. Allphin from requesting, receiving, or possessing a broad and undefined number of public records. CP 92-97.

The TRO further restrained the DOE from releasing public records. *Id*. Mr. Allphin objected. CP 194-341. In subsequent hearings, where Mr. Allphin's counsel was notified, the initial TRO was vacated entirely against Mr. Allphin and narrowed to specifically identified emails. CP 557-563, 661-677. Only the DOE was enjoined from releasing any of the TRO emails. CP 661-677. The TRO emails were specifically identified on the County's amended 4/2/2013 exemption log by author, recipient, date, time, and subject matter. CP 661-677.

The County had earlier represented that it could submit the records for *in camera* review by March/April 2013. CP 49:21-22. The County represented that it would submit "the records to be reviewed *in camera* by close of business on Thursday March 28, 2013, before the matter is set for hearing on Monday, April 1, 2013." *Id.* However, after obtaining the ex parte TRO, the County delayed for over four months and refused to submit the records for review. CP 678-780, RP 207:8-12, 208:5-13. Finally, Mr. Allphin moved the Court to vacate the TRO or order the County to lodge the records for *in camera* review. CP 680-712.

At the hearing set for Mr. Allphin's motions, the County submitted a sealed envelope of records to the judge and represented that it contained

the 11 emails identified by its cover index. <sup>1</sup> CP 781, RP 213:21-214:6, 215:23-217:23. The County represented to the Court that it no longer claimed exempt the remaining records previously enjoined by the TRO, and now only sought court review and protection of the 11 emails listed on the cover index. CP 781, RP 216:8-12. Between May 24, 2013 and the September 9, 2013 hearing, the County had released many of the previously withheld and enjoined emails. CP 1468. Similar to the emails' identification on the exemption logs, the cover index identified the 11 emails specifically by author, recipient, date, and time. CP 781.

The County did not submit any briefing or explanation to support its request that the 11 records be sealed. Mr. Allphin had submitted briefing for his argument that any attorney-client privilege or work product protection was waived when the parties unrestrictedly shared the materials between separate government agencies. CP 699-712. Mr. Allphin also questioned whether the withheld records contained the kind of attorney mental impressions protected by the work product rule. CP 699-712. On September 30, 2013, the Court issued an 8-page memorandum decision that concluded the records were work product, that no waiver had occurred because the County and the DOE were members

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As later discovered, the County's envelope contained many more and different records. See discussion, below, at pp. 9-10, 19-22.

of the same "legal team", and that the 11 records should be sealed. CP 782-789.

By December 2013, the County had still not entered an order on the Court's memorandum decision. Mr. Allphin noted an order for presentation, together with motions for an order setting a reasonable timeline for the County to complete its serial installments and for a statutory award as to those records wrongly withheld under the 4/2/2013 exemption log. CP 791-92, 799-800, 938-948. At the hearing, the Court entered the order on its memorandum decision. CP 975-976. The Court denied Mr. Allphin's other motions without prejudice, pending leave to amend Mr. Allphin's Answer, Counterclaims, and Affirmative Defenses. CP 963, RP 250:11-17. On January 28, 2014, the County notified Mr. Allphin in writing that it had completed its records response. CP 1495.

Mr. Allphin's Amended Answer, Counterclaims, and Affirmative Defenses were entered on March 4, 2014. CP 1018-1031. The County obtained new counsel on March 5, 2014.<sup>2</sup>

About one month later, the County admitted that the envelope of records it had submitted for *in camera* review contained additional and different records than the 11 emails represented to the Court and to Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The County has had at least 4 or 5 "lead" attorneys, and the early and more egregious violations do not lie with the County's present counsel.

Allphin. CP 1038-1087. At least 8 additional records had been stuffed in the envelope, and one of the records represented to be submitted *in camera* was not included at all. CP 1041, ¶¶ 4, 6-7, 11. The County moved to expand the sealing order over these records. CP 1038-1039. Mr. Allphin objected and requested the release of the records and sanctions for abusing the judicial processes of *in camera* review and sealing public records. CP 1088-1092.

The trial court denied the County's motion and Mr. Allphin's requests. CP 1098-1099; RP 280:13-24. The trial court found the County's method of having the records sealed to be "very, very troubling," RP 267:17-19, which it based on a detailed chronicling of the lawsuit, RP 272-78. In the end, however, the trial court denied the request to modify the sealing order, RP 278:20-23, RP 280:19-24, and strongly urged the parties to settle the case, RP 279:25-280:12 (directing Mr. Allphin to "send them a letter [. . .] and then we can be done with this").

The County released additional records over the summer of 2014, and the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. CP 1211-1212; 1431-1432. The Court heard oral argument on December 23, 2014. CP 2721. The parties sought permission from the Court to file supplemental briefing as to 16 responsive records released after the summary judgment hearing. CP 2731, CP 2862-2882. The Court ruled for the County and

entered the County's proposed orders. CP 2883-2890. The County moved for certification as final judgment in anticipation of this appeal. CP 2987. The Court certified judgment as final, over Mr. Allphin's objections. CP 2927-2944, 2985-2990. Mr. Allphin appealed. CP 2991-3056.

#### B. Factual Background

The trial court proceedings can be viewed as occurring in two stages. The first stage occurred in 2013 and centered on the County's denial and withholding of records listed on the 4/2/2013 exemption log. The second stage culminated in late 2014 when the parties moved for summary judgment and *in camera* review of 21 challenged records.

The first stage of the lawsuit involved 50 records claimed to be exempt attorney work product and listed on the County's 4/2/2013 exemption log. CP 92-97, CP 661-677. The exemption log demonstrated on its face that the records had been shared between agencies with no claim or assertion of confidentiality or common interest. CP 668-677. In fact, the County had to name the DOE as an adverse party and enjoin the DOE because the DOE disagreed that the emails constituted protected work product and intended to release the emails. CP 5, CP 32:23-33:2. Over the months following its claimed exemption as to the 50 emails on April 2, 2013, the County released 41 of the 50 records. CP 1468. The County released most of these as a direct result of the trial court's May 6,

2013 ruling that previously disclosed records could not be returned, sequestered, and destroyed as requested by the County. RP 84:10-24; CP 2207, CP 562-63. As the Court put it, "the cat's out of the bag". *Id*.

The second stage spanned from 2013-2015 and encompasses Mr. Allphin's claims for relief under the PRA and his request that the Court review a second set of records withheld by the County as work product. The claims include unlawful delay, failure to provide fullest assistance, the unlawful distinguishing of his requests, the failure to act in good faith, the abuse of judicial process, and the wrongful denial of specific records.

# (1) The County used an "installment process" to serially postpone its release of public records.

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