# FILED Oct 27, 2015 Court of Appeals

Division III
State of Washington

NO. 33241-1

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

KITTITAS COUNTY, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

VS.

SKY ALLPHIN, ABC HOLDINGS, INC., and CHEM-SAFE ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.,

Appellants,

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT KITTITAS COUNTY**

Kenneth W. Harper WSBA #25578 Menke Jackson Beyer, LLP 807 North 39<sup>th</sup> Avenue Yakima, WA 98902 (509) 575-0313

Attorneys for Respondent

####

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

# D. The County did not violate the PRA by amending its initial production of records.

Following receipt of Mr. Allphin's PRA request, the County began searching for and producing responsive materials. Ms. Lowe learned in early 2013 that Mr. Allphin had made a similar PRA request to Ecology. CP 1413. By April 2013, Ms. Lowe became aware that Ecology had produced to CSE certain records that the County believed constituted work product and that were therefore exempt under the PRA. CP 1413-1414. This was problematic because the County had commenced a lawsuit to address the issue of work product as a PRA exemption. That lawsuit was filed February 22, 2013. CP 1-8.

Consistent with its assertion of an exemption on the basis of work product, the County provided to CSE an exemption log on April 2, 2013. CP 230-231; 843-850. This exemption log contained entries that encompassed chains of emails. CP 843-850.

When the trial court denied the County's request to compel return of the documents that had been voluntarily produced by Ecology, notwithstanding the pendency of the County's complaint for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief (CP 596-602), the County disclosed an amended exemption log and no longer claimed any exemption over 37 separate email records. CP 644-653.

Other records were also produced by the County in the succeeding several months. These productions also followed the County ascertaining that corresponding records possessed by Ecology had been produced by Ecology, thereby effectively bringing those records within the scope of Judge McCarthy's order of May 6, 2013. CP 596-602. Examples include records released on July 26, 2013, August 26, 2013, and October 28, 2013. CP 1468.

This pattern recurred when Ecology released records to CSE in response to the order of Judge Sparks dated December 19, 2013, which required Ecology to produce additional records it had withheld subject to the TRO. CP 964-966. The County disclosed an additional eight records

that it had identified on its first exemption log and that could no longer be meaningfully protected because the records were produced by Ecology.

CP 1514-1515.

Washington law encourages agencies to cooperate with PRA litigants. The Supreme Court has refused to penalize agencies that relinquish claimed exemptions through subsequent production of records. *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 849, 240 P.3d 120 (2010). This rule is particularly applicable where a complex and broad request for records makes it "difficult to grasp the scope of the responsive records" and where the responding agency diligently attempts to locate and assemble the information requested. *West v. Dep't of Licensing*, 182 Wn. App. 500, 512-15, 331 P.3d 72 (2014), *review denied*, 339 P.3d 634 (2014). CSE cites no PRA law – nor is there any – by which the County could be liable for producing exempt records simply because another party's actions have mooted the basis for the exemption.

CSE's arguments fail for a different reason. Kittitas County prosecuting attorney Paul Sander wrote to CSE's lawyer on March 14, 2014, indicating that the County's response to the PRA request was closed. But, in fact, the previous day, March 13, 2014, the County's newly-engaged outside counsel spoke with CSE's lawyer in order to further identify and produce records that CSE's lawyer believed were not

properly accounted for. CP 1543. The County's new counsel wrote a detailed letter dated March 20, 2014, explaining his efforts to independently verify claims of Mr. Allphin regarding records. CP 1543-1547. The County's lawyer stated that his review "leads to conclusions that are on certain points consistent and on other points not consistent with those of Mr. Allphin." CP 1543. The County's lawyer stated that "it is certainly possible that in reviewing and analyzing these records I have made errors on one regard or another. I appreciate your calling any such errors to my attention." CP 1543. The County's lawyer also asked for a response so that efforts to search for and produce records might continue. CP 1546-1547.

An agency is entitled to voluntarily remedy problems with its response to a records request. In *Andrews v. Washington State Patrol*, 183 Wn. App. 644, 334 P.3d 94 (2014), *review denied*, 182 Wn.2d 1011 (2015), the court was persuaded that the agency in question responded "with reasonable thoroughness and diligence" to the public records request. *Andrews*, 183 Wn. App. at 653. Summary judgment for the agency was affirmed. *Id.* at 654. An agency that remedies any alleged violation of the PRA prior to taking final action and denying the requested records has not committed a PRA violation. *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 939, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014). The rationale for this result is that a

"mechanically strict" finding of liability does little to further the purpose of the PRA, which is better served by "communications between agencies and requestors, not by playing 'gotcha' with litigation." *Hobbs*, 183 Wn. App. at 941 n. 12.

At no time did the County cease cooperating with CSE. At no time did the County fail to explain its exemptions. The County sought judicial intervention as early as it could plausibly do so and continued in its efforts to produce records to CSE.<sup>6</sup> The County reached out to CSE to seek an agreed basis for a second in camera review of a stipulated list of records. CP 1378-1380. This was also permissible. *Soter*, 162 Wn.2d at 756. The County's early efforts were thwarted by CSE's blatantly improper use of two affidavits of prejudice in a two-judge county.

The policy of the PRA would be undermined by holding an agency liable when its ongoing engagement with a requestor reveals additional responsive records which it then discloses or when, because of subsequent developments of whatever nature, an agency elects to produce records that it had formerly deemed exempt prior to terminating its response efforts. *See Sanders*, 169 Wn.2d at 849. A similar concept was very recently expressed by the Supreme Court in *Nissen v. Pierce County*, 183 Wn.2d

- -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The County was legally permitted to commence litigation regarding its PRA duties. *Neighborhood Alliance*, 172 Wn.2d at 740 (citing *Soter*, 162 Wn.2d at 749-56).

863, \_\_\_\_, 357 P.3d 45, 58 (2015) (agency allowed to correct good-faith but erroneous interpretation of PRA with supplemental response).

CSE's first amended answer, affirmative defenses and counterclaims was filed March 4, 2014. The PRA should not be construed to encourage requestors to disrupt the cooperative process of clarifying requests and identifying and producing responsive records.

CSE should not be able to use the counterclaim of March 4, 2014, as a snare cutting off the County's ability to respond with cooperative dialogue calculated to identify additional records. CSE can hardly dispute that such cooperative dialogue in fact took place.

## E. The trial court properly applied the work product doctrine to the records submitted for in camera review.

By late 2014 the parties reached agreement on a list of records that would be submitted to the court for in camera review. CP 1378-1380; 1454. The list consisted of 21 emails, including items identified by CSE. CP 1597. Also included on this list was the above-referenced email of

39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CSE first answered the County's lawsuit with a document styled "Respondent's Answer, Affirmatively Defend and Counterclaim." CP 14-23. At the time this document was filed, the County had not yet disclosed its initial exemption log of April 2, 2013. CP 843-850. Even with a liberal interpretation allowed under CR 8, nothing raised in the counterclaim of March 20, 2013, can be read as challenging any of the County's grounds for withholding records. CP 21-22.

July 19, 2012 (time sent 12:46 p.m.), that had been erroneously designated on the September 9, 2013, index of records. CP 2977; 1041-1042; 781.8

All of the records listed were previously identified on exemption logs. CP 2977. Two of the records were withheld in their entirety and the remaining 19 were redacted and produced. CP 1421-1430. The records on the list dated from June 14, 2012, and later. CP 1281-1288. By this time, the hearing examiner's decision on the NOVA had been affirmed by the trial court but CSE's implementation of the decision was still hotly contested. The earliest item in the records submitted for the initial in camera review was dated July 15, 2011, which was during the period that the hearing examiner's decision was under appeal before the trial court. CP 59.

Once records are determined to be within the scope of the PRA, disclosure is required unless a specific exemption is applied. *Dawson v. Daly*, 120 Wn.2d 782, 789, 845 P.2d 995 (1993). The burden of proof is on the party seeking to prevent disclosure to show that an exemption applies. *Limstrom v. Ladenburg*, 136 Wn.2d 595, 612, 963 P.2d 869 (1998).

The work product doctrine exempts records under the PRA to the same extent as in discovery under CR 26. *Limstrom*, 136 Wn.2d at 609;

40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The record in question is identified as item number 1 at CP 2977 and was erroneously designated (but nevertheless disclosed to the court) as item number 7 on the index of September 9, 2013. CP 781.

Koenig v. Pierce County, 151 Wn. App. 221, 229, 211 P.3d 423 (2009) review denied, 168 Wn.2d 1023 (2010).

In *Koenig*, the court found that a factual document gathered by the prosecutor in anticipation of litigation was exempt under the PRA. *Koenig*, 151 Wn. App. at 230. Contrary to CSE's argument (Br. 24), the plurality in *Limstrom* rejected any requirement that the exemption for work product be based on a showing that the materials would actually reveal the research and opinions, mental impressions, theories, or conclusions of the other party's lawyer. *Limstrom*, 136 Wn.2d at 614. Instead, documents created during the prosecutor's fact-gathering process were deemed work product because of the purpose for which they were prepared. *Id.* at 612 (tangible items created by attorney and other representatives of a party are work product if prepared in anticipation of litigation) (citing *Heidebrink v. Moriwaki*, 104 Wn.2d 392, 706 P.2d 212 (1985)).

Work product documents need not be prepared personally by counsel; they can be prepared by or for the party's representative as long as they are prepared in anticipation of litigation. *Doehne v. Empres*Healthcare Mgmt., \_\_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_, 2015 WL 5714537, at \*5 (September 29, 2015). The key characteristic of documents constituting work product is that they be prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial by or for a

party or the representative of a party. *Soter*, 131 Wn. App. at 894; *see also* Lewis H. Orland, *Observations on the Work Product Rule*, 29 Gonz.

L. Rev. 281, 285-91 (1993-94). "[T]he courts have few problems in finding that persons working for a lawyer or for a party to the suit acted as agents or representatives." *Id.* at 289. The doctrine is "intensely practical" and should reflect "the realities of litigation" where material may be prepared by the attorney or others working with the attorney. *U.S. v. Nobles*, 422 U.S. 225, 238-39 (1975). This privilege is well recognized as the basis for a FOIA exemption, "especially for the stages of discussion within an agency which precede an adjudication decision." 1 James T. O'Reilly, *Fed. Info. Discl.* § 15.56 (2015).

The *Koenig* decision is important also because the court did not require detailed parsing of records to sift work product from non-work product on a page-by-page basis. Instead, the *Koenig* court upheld the prosecutor's withholding of 44 pages of police reports and 139 pages of transcripts of witness interviews as exempt in their entirety. *Koenig*, 151 Wn. App. at 235. Likewise, the court in *Doehne* stated that "we question whether paragraphs in a single document can be prepared for different purposes." *Doehne*, 2015 WL 5714537, at \*5. In accord is *Soter*, 162 Wn.2d at 739 ("work product rule protects *documents*") (emphasis in original); *see also Judicial Watch, Inc. v. Dep't of Justice*, 432 F.3d 366,

370 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (because work product relates to documents, portions of documents are still work product and are not segregable).

The above citation to Judicial Watch, Inc., requires additional comment. Washington courts do not treat the work product doctrine differently than do federal courts. Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 731 (use of FOIA as guidance for similar exemptions); *Heidebrink*, 104 Wn.2d at 396 (reliance on federal interpretation of work product by attorney and non-attorney). In Sanders, a portion of a record was found to be outside the scope of the exemption and redaction was required, but this holding was fact-specific because certain records were unrelated to the actual litigation at issue. Sanders, 169 Wn.2d at 858. This portion of Sanders is also no more than dicta because it makes no comment on Limstrom's view that all materials prepared in anticipation of litigation – not just attorney mental impressions – are to be protected, which view was endorsed by Soter and echoed by Koenig. See id.; Soter, 162 Wn.2d at 743-44; Koenig, 151 Wn. App. at 235-36 (disclosing portions of work product documents is not required; a work product record can be important not only because of what is included in it but also because of what is left out).

Here, the trial court made findings of fact regarding the nature of the challenged records. In its order and memorandum decision, the court stated that "...it is clear and there is no doubt that the emails were a product of litigation ongoing between Kittitas County and defendants and relate only to the facts, legal strategy, and issues involved in that litigation." CP 973. The court also found as follows:

The overlap in enforcement areas and the specific subject matter knowledge possessed by Ecology employees relevant herein, coupled with the manner and wording of the particular requests made by the County's attorneys to these employees, convinces the court that indeed these employees were in fact part of the County's legal team in its enforcement of the environmental laws of the State and County. CP 973.

In the order on the second in camera review, dated February 27, 2015, the court also made findings of fact regarding the creation of the challenged emails. CP 2967. The court noted that "since at least 2009, employees of the County and Ecology have worked shoulder-to-shoulder to enforce these regulations against respondents Chem-Safe." CP 2967-2968. The court found that "the 21 email records attached to Mr. Harper's declaration were created at the request of and in coordination with the County attorney in charge of the County's litigation with Chem-Safe." CP 2968.

Whether a particular document is work product is a factual determination that is reviewed for substantial evidence. *Soter*, 131 Wn. App. at 891. Because of the failure to assign error, CSE's arguments are not readily apparent. As to two documents specifically challenged by

CSE (records 2 and 21 from the list of 21), CSE is clearly incorrect. CSE claims that these records were not "sent or received by an attorney at all" (*see* Br. 23) but this Court's review of the records in camera will show that these records are indeed work product.

Records publicly filed illustrate the basis for the trial court's finding of work product. The earliest emails pertinent to this controversy occurred between Ms. Becker (of the prosecuting attorney's office) and Mr. Granberg (with Ecology) and related to assertions of CSE shortly after the NOVA was issued. CP 888-892. Subsequent emails related to litigation strategy in response to: legal contentions of CSE's counsel (CP 1614); the adequacy of CSE's testing plan and the potential need to obtain a court order compelling compliance (CP 2743-2745); draft declarations regarding the collaboration between Ecology and KCPHD (CP 865-866); the relationship between CSE's motion to stay enforcement of testing (CP 3453-3454) and the need to rely upon the expertise of Ecology to respond to engineering and technical claims of CSE (CP 3481-3482; 3449-3452). The County fully recognized that Ecology employees were acting in a consulting role with respect to the NOVA litigation. CP 1412.

CSE contends that any work product protection was waived as a result of communication from the County to Ecology. CSE exaggerates

the facts to claim that an opinion letter from Ecology's counsel disavowed the assertion of work product. In fact, the "opinion letter" proves to be an informal email discussing only the attorney-client privilege. CP 1499.

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